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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA

Michael E. Calcutt and Sandra L. Calcutt,
Plaintiffs,
vs.

Civil Case No._________________

Affinity Plus Federal Credit Union,
a federal credit union,
Defendant.

COMPLAINT
Plaintiffs, Michael E. Calcutt and Sandra L. Calcutt (collectively, the “Calcutts”), by their
attorneys, Anastasi & Associates, P.A., as and for their Complaint against Defendant, Affinity
Plus Federal Credit Union, a federal credit union (“Affinity”), and its subsidiaries, allege as
follows:
INTRODUCTION
The Calcutts bring this action for the violation by Affinity of its legal obligations
pursuant to federal, state, and common law, including: (i) the Truth in Lending Act (“TILA”), 15
U.S.C. § 1601, et seq.; (ii) the Electronic Funds Transfer Act (“EFTA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1693, et
seq., and regulations promulgated pursuant thereto including, but not limited to, Regulation E, 62
FR 19669, and Regulation J (collectively, “Regulation E”); (iii) the Fair Credit Reporting Act
(“FCRA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq.; (iv) the Uniform Commercial Code (“UCC”), Minnesota
Statutes § 336.4A-101, et seq.; (v) breach of contract; (vi) breach of fiduciary duty; (vii) breach
of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing; (viii) unjust enrichment; (ix) negligence; (x)
promissory and equitable estoppel; and (xi) intentional infliction of emotional distress.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE
1.

Jurisdiction of this Court arises under 15 U.S.C. §§ 1601, 1681; 1693, 28 U.S.C.

§§ 1331, 2201, and 2202.
2.

Venue exists in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(a) and (c) based on

upon the Calcutts residence in the State of Minnesota and the presence of Affinity’s branches
located in the State of Minnesota, and in particular, a branch located at 175 West Lafayette Road,
St. Paul, Minnesota 55107, where all or a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise
to the claims alleged herein occurred.
PARTIES
3.

The Calcutts are husband and wife, each of whom are citizens of the United States

of America and residents of the State of Minnesota, maintaining a residence located at 10713
Cambridge Court, Burnsville, Minnesota 55337.
4.

Affinity is a federal credit union, organized and existing under the laws of the

United States of America, which conducts business in the State of Minnesota, specifically at a
branch located at 175 West Lafayette Road, St. Paul, Minnesota 55107.
FACTS
5.

Michael E. Calcutt has maintained a savings account at Affinity for approximately

seven (7) years (“Savings Account”), in which he maintained an average balance for the previous
twelve (12) months of approximately Five Hundred Forty Dollars ($540.00).
6.

On or about February 4, 2009, the Calcutts entered into that certain open-end

home equity credit agreement and truth in lending disclosure with Affinity, in the maximum
principal amount of up to Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000.00) (“HELOC”).
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The Calcutts entered into the HELOC with Affinity because of the special trust

and confidence that Michael E. Calcutt developed over the years in his consumer relationship
with Affinity
8.

Pursuant to the terms of the HELOC, the Calcutts, at their sole discretion, could

request the advance of funds from Affinity in the maximum amount of Two Hundred Thousand
Dollars ($200,000.00).
9.

The Calcutts, at all relevant times, utilized the HELOC and any advances

thereunder solely for their personal consumer use.
10.

On or about February 20, 2010, an unknown third party, without the knowledge or

authorization of the Calcutts, created and activated a “phone profile” with Affinity, which linked
all of the Calcutts’ accounts, including the HELOC and the Savings Account.
11.

On or about February 20, 2010, an unknown third party, without the knowledge or

authorization of the Calcutts, also changed the phone number associated with the “phone
profile,” through the third party’s contact with Affinity.
12.

On or about February 24, 2010, an unknown third party, without the knowledge or

authorization of the Calcutts, caused Affinity to make three (3) internal account transfers, each in
the amount of Nine Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety Nine Dollars ($9,999.00), and one (1)
internal transfer in the amount of Nine Thousand Six Hundred Dollars ($9,600.00), advancing
funds from the HELOC and transferring the funds to the Savings Account (collectively, “First
Transfers”).
13.

On or about February 24, 2010, an unknown third party, without the knowledge or

authorization of the Calcutts, a person identified as “Jeremy Erving” faxed a request to Affinity
(“First Wire Request”), requesting that the First Transfers, in the aggregate amount of Thirty
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Nine Thousand Five Hundred Ninety Seven Dollars ($39,597.00), be wired from the Savings
Account to an account at Bank of America held in the name of “Nicole Peeples” (“Peeples
Account”).
14.

Affinity took no measures to verify whether or not the First Wire Request was

known and authorized by the Calcutts.
15.

On or about February 24, 2010, without the knowledge or authorization of the

Calcutts, Affinity wired Thirty Nine Thousand Five Hundred Ninety Seven Dollars ($39,597.00),
as requested in the First Wire Request, to the Peeples Account.
16.

On or about February 26, 2010, an unknown third party, without the knowledge or

authorization of the Calcutts, caused Affinity to make four (4) additional internal transfers, each
in the amount of Nine Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety Nine Dollars ($9,999.00), and one (1)
internal transfer in the amount of Nine Thousand Dollars ($9,000.00), advancing funds from the
HELOC and transferring the funds to the Savings Account (collectively, “Second Transfers”).
17.

On or about February 26, 2010, an unknown third party, without the knowledge or

authorization of the Calcutts, a person identified as “Jeremy Erving” faxed a request to Affinity
(“Second Wire Request”), requesting that the First Transfers, in the aggregate amount of Forty
Eight Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety Six Dollars ($48,996.00), be wired from the Savings
Account the Peeples Account.
18.

Affinity took no measures to verify the Second Wire Request was known and

authorized by the Calcutts.
19.

On or about February 26, 2010, without the knowledge or authorization of the

Calcutts, Affinity wired Forty Eight Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety Six Dollars ($48,996.00), as
requested in the Second Wire Request, to the Peeples Account.
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The Calcutts did not have knowledge of nor authorize the First Transfers, First

Wire Request, Second Transfers, or Second Wire Request (collectively, “Fraudulent Transfers”).
21.

On or about March 16, 2010, upon his regular receipt of monthly account

statements from Affinity, for the HELOC and Savings Account, for the first time Michael E.
Calcutt discovered the Fraudulent Transfers and immediately reported the same to Affinity.
22.

On or about March 17, 2010, Michael E. Calcutt filed a police report with the St.

Paul Police Department, which was assigned Case No. 10053653.
23.

Despite numerous requests from the Calcutts, Affinity did not respond to the

report made by Michael E. Calcutt until six (6) months later, on August 18, 2010.
24.

On August 18, 2010, Affinity directed correspondence to Michael E. Calcutt,

wherein Affinity claimed to have conducted an internal investigation into the Fraudulent
Transfers and Affinity notified Michael E. Calcutt that Affinity was denying his claims and
further informing Calcutt that he would be liable for the Eighty Eight Thousand Five Hundred
Ninety Three Dollars ($88,593.00), wrongfully drawn from the HELOC, transferred to the
Savings Account, and then wired to the Peeples Account.
25.

Affinity also informed Michael E. Calcutt that if he failed repay Affinity for the

amounts wrongfully drawn from the HELOC, transferred to the Savings Account, and then wired
to the Peeples Account, that Affinity would report “late payments” to the respective credit
reporting agencies, causing further harm to the Calcutts.
26.

In response to Affinity’s threats, on or about November 8, 2010, Michael E.

Calcutt contacted John Simonsen, an officer of Affinity, via electronic mail, asking if Affinity
would, despite knowing of the Fraudulent Transfers, report the “late payments” to the respective
credit reporting agencies.

5

CASE 0:10-cv-04967-PJS -JJK Document 1

27.

Filed 12/23/10 Page 6 of 25

On or about November 9, 2010, John Simonson, on behalf of Affinity, responded

back to Michael E. Calcutt via electronic mail stating, “I apologize for the [August 18, 2010]
letter and this will not affect your credit.”
28.

Despite the assurances from Affinity, Affinity subsequently reported a late

payment to the respective credit reporting agencies, which caused significant harm to the credit
rating of each of the Calcutts.
29.

The Calcutts complied with and followed all of Affinity’s instructions and

procedures for reporting the Fraudulent Transfers, disputing the same, and requesting that
Affinity investigate the same.
30.

Affinity has failed and refused, and continues to fail and refuse, to reimburse the

Calcutts for the Fraudulent Transfers.
31.

Affinity has further failed and refused, and continues to fail and refuse, to remedy

its reporting to the respective credit reporting agencies of the alleged “late payments” by the
Calcutts, which Affinity knew to be false and which arise out of the Fraudulent Transfers.
32.

The Calcutts have been forced to dispute the credit reporting by Affinity with the

respective credit reporting agencies.
33.

Upon information and belief, the Fraudulent Transfers were accomplished

through the Automated Clearing House (“ACH”), Network, FedWire, and/or other electronic
means.
34.

The Fraudulent Transfers were facilitated by Affinity's negligent, fraudulent,

reckless, and/or intentional failure to maintain and/or exercise adequate security and monitoring
procedures with respect to the HELOC and Savings Account, and Affinity’s negligent,
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fraudulent, reckless, and/or intentional failure to abide by its contractual, statutory, common law,
and/or fiduciary obligations to the Calcutts.
35.

Upon Affinity’s receipt, via facsimile, of the fraudulent, forged, and unauthorized

First Wire Request and Second Wire Request to electronically transfer money to the Peeples
Account, Affinity failed:
a. to abide by its own policies and procedures, or to adopt and implement
commercially reasonable and commercially accepted security procedures to
alert the Calcutts about the Fraudulent Transfers;
b. to abide by its own policies and procedures, or to adopt and implement
commercially reasonable and commercially accepted security procedures to
obtain the verified approval of the Calcutts, prior to Affinity’s facilitation of
the Fraudulent Transfers; and
c. to abide by its own policies and procedures, or to adopt and implement
commercially reasonable and commercially accepted security procedures to
require that the Calcutts answer security questions or otherwise verify,
authenticate, or confirm the Calcutts’ identity, as well as verify, authenticate,
or confirm that Calcutts had made and or authorized the Fraudulent Transfers.
36.

Defendant knew or should have known that the First Wire Request and the

Second Wire Request were unauthorized, suspicious, forged, fraudulent, wrongful, did not
conform with Affinity's policies, regulations, and rules, or the commercially reasonable or
commercially accepted security procedures of the banking industry, and did not conform with the
longstanding pattern of the Calcutts’ account activity, with respect to the HELOC and the
Savings Account.
37.

The Calcutts promptly notified Affinity that they did not authorize the Fraudulent

Transfers and the Calcutts demanded that Affinity return any and all transferred funds to the
Calcutts, as well as that Affinity compensate Calcutts fully for any and all incident transfer fees,
interest, and other charges.
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The Calcutts and their attorneys have, on numerous occasions, requested

information and documents relating to the aforementioned Fraudulent Transfers from Affinity,
yet Affinity and its attorneys have, in keeping with their pattern of behavior relating to this
incident, refused to provide the requested information and documents relating to the Fraudulent
Transfers or extending the Calcutts the courtesy of returning phone calls.
39.

The Fraudulent Transfers were made without the Calcutts’ knowledge or consent,

and occurred as a proximate result of Affinity's misconduct, recklessness, negligence, fraud,
unlawful actions, wrongful conduct, intentional conduct, breach of its fiduciary duties, and/or
failure to comply with commercially reasonable and/or commercially accepted security
procedures.
40.

Affinity has failed to conduct a timely and reasonable investigation into the

Fraudulent Transfers, has failed to reimburse the Calcutts for the Fraudulent Transfers, and has
failed to remedy the inaccurate reporting by Affinity with the respective credit reporting
agencies.
41.

Affinity has forced the Calcutts to make payment to Affinity for the alleged

amounts due under the HELOC, caused by the Fraudulent Transfers.
42.

As a result of Affinity’s conduct, the Calcutts have suffered actual damages,

suffering serious financial and pecuniary harm arising from monetary losses relating from
Affinity’s unauthorized allowance of the Fraudulent Transfers, incurred out-of-pocket expenses
including, but not limited to, making payments of principal and interest under protest to Affinity
in an effort to protect their credit rating, as well as the real property encumbered by a mortgage
securing the HELOC, and other related costs, all of which will continue into the future to the
Calcutts’ great detriment and loss.
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COUNT I – VIOLATIONS OF TRUTH IN LENDING ACT
For Count I of its Complaint herein, Plaintiffs restate and reallege Paragraphs 1 through
42 above as though fully stated herein and further state and allege as follows:
43.

Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a), Affinity is liable to the Calcutts for its violations

of TILA.
44.

Affinity is liable to the Calcutts for advising the Calcutts that they were

responsible to pay the full amount of the Fraudulent Transfers from the Savings Account and
billing the Calcutts for the same, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1643.
45.

Affinity is liable to the Calcutts for demanding that the Calcutts make payments

for the interest on the full amount of the Fraudulent Transfers from the Savings Account, in
violation of 12 C.F.R. § 226(d)(1).
46.

Affinity is liable to the Calcutts for attempting to collect from the Calcutts any

portion, or interest thereon, of the funds that were fraudulently transferred from the Calcutts’
accounts, in violation of 12 C.F.R. § 226(d)(1).
47.

Affinity is liable to the Calcutts for failing to reasonably investigate and correct

the Fraudulent Transfers from the Savings Account, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1666
48.

Affinity is liable to the Calcutts for reporting the Calcutts to the respective credit

reporting agencies as owing money and being delinquent in their payments on the HELOC when
Affinity knew the Fraudulent Transfers were unauthorized and fraudulent and that the Calcutts
had disputed the balance, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1666a and 12 C.F.R. § 226.13(d)(2).
49.

Affinity is liable to the Calcutts for failing to remedy its wrongful reporting to the

respective credit reporting agencies when Affinity knew that the Fraudulent Transfers were
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unauthorized and fraudulent and that the Calcutts had disputed the balance, in violation of 15
U.S.C. § 1666a.
50.

By reason of the foregoing violations of TILA, the conduct of Affinity was the

direct and proximate cause in bringing about the serious injuries, actual damages, and harm to
the Calcutts that are outlined more fully above and, as a result, Affinity is liable to the Calcutts
for the full amount of statutory, and actual damages, along with the attorneys’ fees and the costs
of litigation, as well as such further relief, as may be permitted by law.
COUNT II – VIOLATIONS OF ELECTRONIC FUNDS TRANSFER ACT
For Count II of its Complaint herein, Plaintiffs restate and reallege Paragraphs 1 through
50 above as though fully stated herein and further state and allege as follows:
51.

The Calcutts are both “consumers” as that term is used in 15 U.S.C. § 1693(a)(5).

52.

Affinity is a “financial institution” as that term is used in 15 U.S.C. § 1693(a)(8).

53.

The Savings Account is an “account” as that term is used in 15 U.S.C. §

1693(a)(2).
54.

The aforesaid Fraudulent Transfers are “unauthorized electronic transfers” as that

phrase is used and defined in 15 U.S.C. § 1693(a)(11).
55.

Affinity violated its obligations under EFTA by failing to provide the Calcutts

with the disclosures and notices required under that Act and under Regulation E.
56.

Affinity violated its obligations under EFTA by failing to perform a good faith

investigation into the Fraudulent Transfers, providing the Calcutts with the results of said
investigation within ten (10) business days, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1693f(a).
57.

Affinity violated its obligations under EFTA by failing to correct the account

errors caused by the Fraudulent Transfers, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1693f(b)
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Affinity unlawfully, recklessly, negligently, and/or willfully denied the Calcutts

the protections set forth in Regulation E including, but not limited to, the limitations on
consumer liability set forth in 12 C.F.R. § 205.6.
59.

Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1693g, the Calcutts’ maximum liability for the Fraudulent

Transfers is Fifty Dollars ($50.00).
60.

Affinity has demanded payment from the Calcutts, as a result of the Fraudulent

Transfers, in the amount of Eighty Eight Thousand Five Hundred Ninety Three Dollars
($88,593.00), which amount is well in excess of the Calcutts’ maximum liability and which
demand is in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1693g.
61.

Affinity has and continues to willfully violate the EFTA and Regulation E and

Affinity is liable to the Calcutts for a declaratory judgment that Affinity’s conduct violated the
EFTA.
62.

By reason of the foregoing violations of the EFTA, the conduct of Affinity was

the direct and proximate cause in bringing about the serious injuries, actual damages, and harm
to the Calcutts that are outlined more fully above and, as a result, Affinity is liable to the Calcutts
for the full amount of statutory, and actual damages, along with the attorneys’ fees and the costs
of litigation, as well as such further relief, as may be permitted by law.
COUNT III – VIOLATIONS OF FAIR CREDIT REPORTING ACT
For Count III of its Complaint herein, Plaintiffs restate and reallege Paragraphs 1 through
62 above as though fully stated herein and further state and allege as follows:
63.

At all times pertinent hereto, the Calcutts were each a “person” as that term is

defined by U.S.C. § 1681a(b).
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Affinity violated its obligations under the FCRA by willfully and negligently

failing to conduct an investigation into the Fraudulent Transfers.
65.

Affinity violated its obligations under the FCRA by willfully and negligently

failing to review all relevant information concerning the HELOC and the Savings Account.
66.

Affinity violated its obligations under the FCRA by willfully and negligently

failing to report the findings of its investigation into the Fraudulent Transfers to any and all
credit reporting agencies.
67.

Affinity violated its obligations under the FCRA by willfully and negligently

failing to provide any and all credit reporting agencies with the factual information and evidence
that the Calcutts submitted to Affinity, which proved that the information contained in the
Calcutts’ credit reports was inaccurate.
68.

Affinity violated its obligations under the FCRA by willfully and negligently

continuing to disseminate inaccurate and derogatory credit, account, and other information
concerning the Calcutts to any and all credit reporting agencies.
69.

Affinity violated its obligations under the FCRA by willfully and negligently

advising the Calcutts that Affinity would not report any alleged “late payments” to the any and
all credit reporting agencies, when Affinity intended to and in fact did report derogatory credit,
account, and other information concerning the Calcutts to any and all credit reporting agencies.
70.

Affinity violated its obligations under the FCRA by willfully and negligently

failing to comply with the requirements imposed on furnishers of information, pursuant to U.S.C.
§ 1681s-2(b).
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Affinity informed Michael E. Calcutt that if he failed to pay for the funds

wrongfully and fraudulently drawn from the HELOC and transferred from the Savings Account,
Affinity would report “late payments” to the credit bureaus, causing further harm to Calcutts.
72.

By reason of the foregoing violations of the FCRA, the conduct of Affinity was

the direct and proximate cause in bringing about the serious injuries, actual damages, and harm
to the Calcutts that are outlined more fully above and, as a result, Affinity is liable to the Calcutts
for the full amount of statutory, and actual damages, along with the attorneys’ fees and the costs
of litigation, as well as such further relief, as may be permitted by law.
COUNT IV – VIOLATIONS OF UNIFORM COMMERCIAL CODE ARTICLE 4A
For Count IV of its Complaint herein, Plaintiffs restate and reallege Paragraphs 1 through
72 above as though fully stated herein and further state and allege as follows:
73.

Affinity failed to establish, implement, and/or apply, as required by the Uniform

Commercial Code, as adopted in Minnesota (“UCC”), Article 4A, a security procedure that was
a commercially reasonable and/or commercially acceptable method against unauthorized
payment orders or unauthorized electronic transactions.
74.

The Fraudulent Transfers were not authorized by the Calcutts, nor initiated by the

Calcutts or their agent who had access to confidential security information, nor by a person who
obtained that confidential security information from a source controlled by the Calcutts.
75.

Affinity failed to take reasonable measures to prevent, preclude, and/or stop the

Fraudulent Transfers even though Affinity was aware, prior to the Fraudulent Transfers, that
suspicious activity had occurred on the HELOC and Savings Account, which did not conform to
the normal pattern of activity on the HELOC and Savings Account.
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Affinity accepted the unauthorized payment orders without verification pursuant

to a commercially reasonable and/or commercially accepted security procedure and/or did not
follow a commercially reasonable and/or commercially accepted security procedure when
Affinity endorsed and fulfilled the Fraudulent Transfers.
77.

Affinity did not have a written agreement with the Calcutts, pursuant to which

Affinity was authorized to endorse and fulfill the Fraudulent Transfers.
78.

Affinity failed to adopt and implement a security procedure to protect against

wrongful, unauthorized, and/or fraudulent payment orders and electronic transactions, such as
the Fraudulent Transfers.
79.

Affinity failed to allow the Calcutts to choose alternative security procedures for

approval of electronic transactions.
80.

At no time did the Calcutts agree in writing to be bound by payment orders for

electronic transactions from the HELOC and Savings Account via telephonic, FedWire, or other
electronic means.
81.

Affinity failed to adopt and implement and/or failed to comply with its agreed

upon security procedures to protect against wrongful, unauthorized, and/or fraudulent payment
orders and electronic payments.
82.

Affinity failed to adopt and implement and/or failed to comply with commercially

reasonable and/or commercially accepted security procedures when it endorsed and fulfilled the
Fraudulent Transfers by, among other things:
a. failing to confirm the identity of the person who created and activated the
“phone profile” linking the HELOC and the Savings Account;
b. failing to notify the Calcutts that a “phone profile” had been created, linking
the HELOC and the Savings Account and that a “phone profile” had been
activated;
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c. failing to validate the new phone number on the HELOC and the Savings
Account;
d. failing to call Michael E. Calcutt to confirm whether or not he placed either
the First Transfers or the Second Transfers;
e. failing to confirm the identity of the individual who, in fact, caused the First
Transfer and the Second Transfers;
f. failing to recognize suspicious behavior on the HELOC and the Savings
Account only four (4) days after the “phone profile” was created and
authorized by Affinity;
g. failing to require an original signature before approving the Fraudulent
Transfers;
h. honoring the First Wire Request and the Second Wire Request, each of which
were sent by facsimile from an individual identified as “Jeremy Erving”;
i. endorsing and fulfilling the Fraudulent Transfers, which did not comply with
Affinity's internal procedures and rules, and which were not in the form that
Affinity required;
j. failing to exercise reasonable care when approving the Fraudulent Transfers;
k. approving the Fraudulent Transfers in the aggregate amount of Eighty Eight
Thousand Five Hundred Ninety Three Dollars ($88,593.00), under
circumstances that are not commonly accepted in the industry; and
l. failing to properly investigate the wrongful and unauthorized Fraudulent
Transfers.
83.

By reason of the foregoing violations of UCC Article 4A, the conduct of Affinity

was the direct and proximate cause in bringing about the serious injuries, actual damages, and
harm to the Calcutts that are outlined more fully above and, as a result, Affinity is liable to the
Calcutts for the full amount of statutory, and actual damages, along with the attorneys’ fees and
the costs of litigation, as well as such further relief, as may be permitted by law.
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COUNT V – BREACH OF CONTRACT
For Count V of its Complaint herein, Plaintiffs restate and reallege Paragraphs 1 through
83 above as though fully stated herein and further state and allege as follows:
84.

Affinity has breached the terms and conditions of the HELOC and the Savings

Account by, among other things, allowing the Fraudulent Transfers.
85.

Affinity has also breached its agreement to not report the “late payments”

allegedly due under the HELOC and the Savings Account, to the various credit reporting
agencies.
86.

The documents evidencing the HELOC and the Savings Account, as well as the

agreement by Affinity to not report the “late payments” allegedly due under the HELOC and the
Savings Account to the various credit reporting agencies, are established by clear, positive and
convincing evidence.
87.

The HELOC and the Savings Account, as well as the agreement by Affinity to not

report the “late payments” allegedly due under the HELOC and the Savings Account, to the
various credit reporting agencies are based on adequate consideration except that Affinity has
failed to perform all of its duties and obligations thereunder.
88.

The Calcutts have performed all of their respective duties and obligations under

the HELOC and the Savings Account, as well as the agreement by Affinity to not report the “late
payments” allegedly due under the HELOC and the Savings Account, to the various credit
reporting agencies.
89.

Affinity has breached the terms and conditions of the HELOC and the Savings

Account, as well as the agreement by Affinity to not report the “late payments” allegedly due
under the HELOC and the Savings Account to the various credit reporting agencies, which
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breach has damaged the Calcutts and caused them to incur actual damages.
90.

By reason of the foregoing breaches of the HELOC and the Savings Account, as

well as the agreement by Affinity to not report the “late payments” allegedly due under the
HELOC and the Savings Account to the various credit reporting agencies, the conduct of
Affinity was the direct and proximate cause in bringing about the serious injuries, actual
damages, and harm to the Calcutts that are outlined more fully above and, as a result, Affinity is
liable to the Calcutts for the full amount of statutory, and actual damages, along with the
attorneys’ fees and the costs of litigation, as well as such further relief, as may be permitted by
law.
COUNT VI – BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY
For Count VI of its Complaint herein, Plaintiffs restate and reallege Paragraphs 1 through
90 above as though fully stated herein and further state and allege as follows:
91.

The Calcutts placed their trust and confidence in Affinity based upon Affinity’s

expertise and experience in making their decision to become members of Affinity and to open
and maintain the HELOC and the Savings Account.
92.

Affinity knew that the Calcutts were placing their trust and confidence in Affinity

based upon Affinity’s expertise and experience.
93.

The Calcutts relied on Affinity to maintain and establish security protocols and

procedures, as Affinity promised it would, to protect the safety and security of the Calcutts’
accounts and information.
94.

The Calcutts reliance upon Affinity caused the Calcutts to open and maintain the

HELOC and the Savings Account.
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The trust and confidence placed upon Affinity by the Calcutts, which trust and

confidence Affinity was aware of, created a fiduciary relationship between Affinity and the
Calcutts.
96.

As a result of the fiduciary relationship between Affinity and the Calcutts,

Affinity owed the Calcutts a fiduciary duty to maintain and protect the HELOC and the Savings
Account.
97.

Affinity breached its fiduciary duty to the Calcutts by its failure to establish and

maintain commercially accepted security protocols and procedures, which failure allowed the
Fraudulent Transfers.
98.

Affinity breached its fiduciary duty to the Calcutts by refusing to reimburse the

Calcutts for the amounts wrongfully and fraudulently taken from the HELOC and the Savings
Account.
99.

Affinity breached its fiduciary duty to the Calcutts by promising the Calcutts that

Affinity would not report “late payments” to the respective credit reporting agencies, yet Affinity
reported “late payments” to the respective credit reporting agencies, despite Affinity’s specific
knowledge of the Fraudulent Transfers.
100.

Affinity breached its fiduciary duty to the Calcutts by failing to conduct an

adequate investigation into the Fraudulent Transfers.
101.

By reason of the foregoing breaches of the fiduciary duty owed by Affinity to the

Calcutts, the conduct of Affinity was the direct and proximate cause in bringing about the serious
injuries, actual damages, and harm to the Calcutts that are outlined more fully above and, as a
result, Affinity is liable to the Calcutts for the full amount of statutory, and actual damages,
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along with the attorneys’ fees and the costs of litigation, as well as such further relief, as may be
permitted by law.
COUNT VII – BREACH OF COVENANT OF
GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING
For Count VII of its Complaint herein, Plaintiffs restate and reallege Paragraphs 1
through 101 above as though fully stated herein and further state and allege as follows:
102.

In every contract, such as the HELOC, the Savings Account, as well as the

agreement by Affinity to not report the “late payments” allegedly due under the HELOC and the
Savings Account to the various credit reporting agencies, there is a covenant of good faith and
fair dealing.
103.

Affinity owed the Calcutts the duty to act in good faith and deal fairly in its

contractual relationship with the Calcutts.
104.

Affinity breached its duty to act in good faith and deal fairly with the Calcutts by

its failure to establish and maintain commercially accepted security protocols and procedures,
which failure allowed the Fraudulent Transfers.
105.

Affinity breached its duty to act in good faith and deal fairly with the Calcutts by

refusing to reimburse the Calcutts for the amounts wrongfully and fraudulently taken from the
HELOC and the Savings Account.
106.

Affinity breached its duty to act in good faith and deal fairly with the Calcutts by

promising the Calcutts that Affinity would not report “late payments” to the respective credit
reporting agencies, yet Affinity intended to and did, in fact, report “late payments” to the
respective credit reporting agencies, despite Affinity’s specific knowledge of the Fraudulent
Transfers.
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Affinity breached its duty to act in good faith and deal fairly with the Calcutts by

failing to conduct an adequate investigation into the Fraudulent Transfers.
108.

By reason of the foregoing breaches of the duty of good faith and fair dealing

owed by Affinity to the Calcutts, the conduct of Affinity was the direct and proximate cause in
bringing about the serious injuries, actual damages, and harm to the Calcutts that are outlined
more fully above and, as a result, Affinity is liable to the Calcutts for the full amount of
statutory, and actual damages, along with the attorneys’ fees and the costs of litigation, as well as
such further relief, as may be permitted by law.
COUNT VIII – UNJUST ENRICHMENT
For Count VIII of its Complaint herein, Plaintiffs restate and reallege Paragraphs 1
through 108 above as though fully stated herein and further state and allege as follows:
109.

Affinity has benefitted from the Calcutts’ establishing and maintaining the

HELOC and the Savings Account with Affinity.
110.

Affinity has benefitted from the proceeds derived from the alleged obligations

caused by Fraudulent Transfers by requiring that the Calcutts make payment to Affinity for the
amounts wrongfully and fraudulently taken through the Fraudulent Transfers, including alleged
principal, interest, and late payments.
111.

Affinity has and will benefit from its demand upon the Calcutts for the alleged

obligations caused by the Fraudulent Transfers.
112.

Affinity has failed and refused, and continues to fail and refuse, to acknowledge

that the Calcutts have no liability to Affinity for the amounts wrongfully and fraudulently taken
through the Fraudulent Transfers.
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Affinity should not benefit from the aforementioned proceeds derived from the

alleged obligations caused by the Fraudulent Transfers.
114.

Affinity will continue to benefit through the alleged obligations caused by the

Fraudulent Transfers, which presents circumstances which would make it unjust to permit
Affinity to benefit from the alleged obligations caused by Fraudulent Transfers.
115.

Affinity has been unjustly enriched and injustice can only be avoided by ordering

payment for damages by Affinity to the Calcutts for the full amount of statutory, and actual
damages, along with the attorneys’ fees and the costs of litigation, as well as such further relief,
as may be permitted by law.
COUNT IX – NEGLIGENCE
For Count IX of its Complaint herein, Plaintiffs restate and reallege Paragraphs 1 through
115 above as though fully stated herein and further state and allege as follows:
116.

The Calcutts entered into the account relationships with Affinity, pursuant to the

terms of the HELOC and the Savings Account.
117.

Affinity accepted rights, responsibilities, and duties, pursuant to the terms of the

HELOC and the Savings Account.
118.

Among other things, Affinity accepted payments from the Calcutts, accrued

interest on the balances in the HELOC and the Savings Account, and otherwise benefitted from
its account relationship with the Calcutts.
119.

Based upon the promises and agreement of Affinity, the Calcutts entered into the

HELOC and the Savings Account.
120.

Affinity’s actions were improper and negligent because, among other things,

Affinity failed to establish and maintain commercially accepted security protocols and
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procedures, which failure allowed the Fraudulent Transfers.
121.

Affinity negligently performed its duties under the terms of the HELOC and the

Savings Account, which negligence has caused the Calcutts to be damaged as a result of their
reasonable reliance upon Affinity’s performance under the HELOC and the Savings Account.
122.

Affinity knew that the Calcutts would be relying upon Affinity’s performance

under the HELOC and the Savings Account.
123.

By reason of the foregoing negligence of Affinity, the conduct of Affinity was the

direct and proximate cause in bringing about the serious injuries, actual damages, and harm to
the Calcutts that are outlined more fully above and, as a result, Affinity is liable to the Calcutts
for the full amount of statutory, and actual damages, along with the attorneys’ fees and the costs
of litigation, as well as such further relief, as may be permitted by law.
COUNT X – PROMISSORY/EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL
For Count X of its Complaint herein, Lender restates and realleges Paragraphs 1 through
123 above as though fully stated herein and further states and alleges as follows:
124.

Affinity made numerous promises and representations to the Calcutts including,

without limitation, that Affinity would abide by the terms and conditions of the HELOC, the
Savings Account, and other documents related thereto. These promises and representations were
made with the full knowledge that the Calcutts would rely thereon by entering into the HELOC
and the Savings Account.
125.

Affinity knew, or should have known, that such promises and representations

would induce action or forbearance of a definite and substantial character on the Calcutts’ behalf.
126.

The Calcutts did reasonably rely upon the promises and representations of

Affinity by entering into the HELOC, the Savings Account, and other documents related thereto.
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Injustice can only be avoided by estopping Affinity from denying the

aforementioned promises and representations and that the Calcutts be entitled to judgment
against Affinity for the full amount of statutory, and actual damages, along with the attorneys’
fees and the costs of litigation, as well as such further relief, as may be permitted by law.
COUNT XI – INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS
For Count XI of its Complaint herein, Lender restates and realleges Paragraphs 1 through
127 above as though fully stated herein and further states and alleges as follows:
128.

The conduct of Affinity described herein was so extreme and outrageous that it

passed the boundaries of decency and is utterly intolerable to the civilized community.
129.

The conduct of Affinity described herein was intentional or reckless.

130.

The conduct of Affinity described herein caused emotional distress to the

Calcutts.
131.

The distress caused by the conduct of Affinity described herein was so severe that

no reasonable person could be expected to endure it.
132.

By reason of the foregoing intentional infliction of emotional distress by Affinity,

the conduct of Affinity was the direct and proximate cause in bringing about the serious injuries,
actual damages, and harm to the Calcutts that are outlined more fully above and, as a result,
Affinity is liable to the Calcutts for the full amount of statutory, and actual damages, along with
the attorneys’ fees and the costs of litigation, as well as such further relief, as may be permitted
by law.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE Plaintiffs, Michael E. Calcutt and Sandra L. Calcutt, request that the
Court enter judgment against Defendant, Affinity Plus Federal Credit Union, a federal credit
union, as follows:
1.

For the actual damages suffered by Plaintiffs, Michael E. Calcutt and Sandra L.

Calcutt in an amount of no less than Eighty Eight Thousand Five Hundred Ninety Three Dollars
($88,593.00), against Defendant, Affinity Plus Federal Credit Union.
2.

For statutory damages, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §§ 1601, 1681, 1693, and 28 U.S.C.

§§ 1331, 2201, and 2202, in favor of Plaintiffs, Michael E. Calcutt and Sandra L. Calcutt and
against Defendant, Affinity Plus Federal Credit Union.
3.

For punitive damages, in favor of Plaintiffs, Michael E. Calcutt and Sandra L.

Calcutt and against Defendant, Affinity Plus Federal Credit Union.
4.

For costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred by Plaintiffs, Michael E. Calcutt

and Sandra L. Calcutt, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681n, 1681o, 1640, and 1693m.
5.

For an order directing Defendant, Affinity Plus Federal Credit Union to

immediately cease and desist from any and all attempts to collect the funds that were transferred
from the accounts of Plaintiffs, Michael E. Calcutt and Sandra L. Calcutt, together with any
accrued interest or other charges thereon.
6.

For an order directing Defendant, Affinity Plus Federal Credit Union to

immediately cease and desist from any and all inaccurate credit reporting regarding the HELOC
or the Savings Account and to further order Defendant, Affinity Plus Federal Credit Union to
correct any past inaccurate credit reporting regarding the same.
7.

For such further and other relief as the Court deems just.
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ANASTASI & ASSOCIATES, P.A.
Dated: December 23, 2010.
/s/ Garth G. Gavenda
Garth G. Gavenda, #310918
T. Chris Stewart, #152316
14985 60th Street North
Stillwater, MN 55082
(651) 439-2951
E-mail:Garth@AnaLawFirm.com
TChris@AnaLawFirm.com
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